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Estate Neltjeberg is located on the shore of Neltjeberg
Bay on the north side of St. Thomas, three miles northwest of
Charlotte Amalie. Existing remains from the sugar plantation
include a factory, an animal mill, a stable, slave quarters and
a number of dry stone walls.

The factory is an L-shaped structure consisting of a
partially intact, two story, 16' x 30' wing running on an east-
west axis, and a one story 15' x 25'  wing at the west end. The
two story part once had a gable roof, while the one story section,
the boiling room, had a shed roof, unusual for such an important
part of the sugar factory. A low terrace runs parallel to the
west wall of the boiling room, with the segmental arched fire-
boxes used to heat the coppers intact under the boiling bench.

The two story section is divided into two parts by a stone
partition; the west part has corresponding doors and windows in
its north-south walls. The double entrances are seven feet
high by four feet wide, while the flanking rectangular windows,
four feet above grade, measure 4' x 3'. The walls of the structure
are stuccoed rubble masonry, with the interior faces plastered.
The small space east of the partition has two additional rectan-
gular windows. All openings have brick lined splayed jambs,
plastered, and the corners of the factory are also flnlshed
with the yellow brick.

A two story high stone wall separates the eastern section
from the remainder of the factory. This part of the structure has
three levels on the interior but retains the two story exterior
height of the rest of the factory. The rooms on the lower two
levels have small rectangular windows delineating the six bays,
which were once barred and provided with board shutters, indicating
their possible use as store rooms, probably for rum. The middle
level is reached by a short flight of stone stairs running
parallel to the south wall of the factory. The lower level
is entered through a low wide arched opening beneath the stair
landing. A small cistern, 6' x 10', possibly used in connection
with the manufacture of rum, is appended to the east wall of
this wing.

The height of the lower story in the two story section is
12', with the second floor marked by a double brick beltcourse.
The second story walls, which exist only on the north facade, are
8' high, with three symmetrically placed windows that do not
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the 17th and 18th centuries the Danes joined other
European nations in securing colonies in the West Indies. The
Danes hoped that their colonies would provide them with a per-
manent site for their trading and commercial interests. Agri-
culture was to serve as a supplement to the income provided in
commerce and trading.

St. Thomas, which the Danes purchased in 1671 to serve as
a commercial port, had less agricultural development than the
other islands. However, there were some sugar plantations in
operation. By 1725 St. Thomas reached its peak in sugar pro-
duction and by 1754 it was no longer very important to the
industry. Moreover, during the 19th century the island's
commercial and trading interests were finally prospering.

Although sugar production reached its peak in St. Thomas
in 1725, Neltjeberg continued in profitable production until the
1830's. The estate is unusually well watered, has fertile
volcanic soil and, as a holding of several hundred acres,
experienced economic success on a scale unavailable to smaller
plantations..

During its heyday Neltjeberg was never the residence of
its owners. At the time of his death in 1794, the plantation
was the property of Thue Thueson Wulffsberg, Collector of Customs
for St. Thomas. Wulffsberg was appointed to that demanding and
highly remunerative position in 1763, the year St. Thomas was
declared a free port. When Mrs. Wulffsberg's new husband sold
the estate in 1802 for 30,000 pieces of eight plus the discharge
of debts, the sale included Brass Cay, 39 negroes, 12 mules,
7 milk cows, 3 calves, 14 sheep, 1 horse and 2 colts.

From 1802-1830, Neltjeberg was the property of the Hassel
family which had w1despread commercial interests and landholdings
throughout the Virgin Islands. The estate appears to have
declined rapidly after 1830.
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line up with the openings below. These window openings are
rectangular on the exterior with wood casings, but are segmentally
arched on the interior, a design feature common to much of the
sugar factory construction extant in the islands. The interior
had louvered blinds, the exterior, board shutters, hung on straps
with iron pintles.

The animal mill lies approximately 10 feet south of the
factory and consists of a circular terrace 35' in diameter, 5°'
above grade at most points and is enclosed by a dry stone wall.
Unlike most surviving animal mills, which are at grade at some
point, this mill terrace is reached by a flight of eight stone
stairs. While it no longer remains, it is probable that the ani-
mals were lead to the horse walk over a ramp from the stable area.
The pocket for the sugar syrup trough remains, but no remains
of the grinding platform or the roof structure were observed.

The stable lies 20feet southeast of the animal mill, and
consists of an 18' x 6'6" rectangular structure open to the
west side. The walls are 18" thick masonry rubble with the
interior face plastered. Each end wall has a centered window
and is 9' high at the open west end, 6' high at the rear, with a
timber shed roof. The eastern wall has a series of six vents on
3' centers, 6" by 1' high, 5'6" above grade. Ghostings in the
surviving interior plaster indicate that board partitions divided
the stable into five stalls.

Two slave quarters remain south of the animal mill, the first
a 7'6" square structure with evidences of a hip roof. Its
rubble masonry walls, 18" thick, are plastered on both faces,
and survive to a height of 9', except for the collapsed west
wall. There is a door centered in the north wall with a large
window in each of the remaining side walls.

A second structure lies 15' south of the first and is an
8' x 12' rectangle. The 6'6" high walls have a door centered
in the east wall, and single windows in the north and south end
walls. The interior wall surfaces are plastered.
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Neltjeberg was purchased by Jacob Roger Maalenaar
(Moolenaar) around 1850, and has passed by inheritance in his
family ever since. The Moolenaars converted the factory
structure to a residence and used the estate as a dairy.

The factory/residence was destroyed by the hurricane of
October 29, 1867 and abandoned thereafter.

In large part the rubble thrown down by the 1867 hurricane
has been undisturbed. The factory building and slave quarters
undoubtedly present an unequalled opportunity for securing
historical archaeological information about the 18th and 19th
century economy of the Virgin Islands.

The Virgin Islands Department of Conservation and Cultural
Affairs recently purchased adjoining property in the Neltjeberg
Estate to include in the Territorial Park System. The expan-
sion of the park to include the ruins complex in order to capi-
talize on its outstanding interpretive values is under consideration.

The ruins of the factory at Neltjeberg are of architectural

significance because of the classical revival details, the plan, the
method of construction and use of local building materials,
all typical of sugar factories in the Virgin Islands at this

period.
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